## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANK MITCHELL, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. **SC03-1210** 

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_/

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

## ROBERT S. FRIEDMAN

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLA. BAR NO. 0500674
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

# COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the respondent in the Civil Division of the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal, First District. Respondent was the prosecution and appellant in the lower courts. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

Reference to the record on appeal shall be by the letter "R" followed by the page number. References to the supplemental record shall be by the letters "SR" followed by the page number.

References to the Appendix shall be by the letter "A" followed by the page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 10, 2001, an amended petition for commitment as a sexually violent predator was filed against Petitioner.

(SR 1-11)

Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss the petition and vacate the order determining probable cause because the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to try him under the Jimmy Ryce Act, in that his most recent prior term of prison commitment was not for a sexually violent offense. (R 1-18) After a hearing, the trial court granted the motion and entered an order dismissing the petition for lack of jurisdiction. (A1)

Respondent filed a notice of appeal and its reliance on the automatic say pending appeal provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2). Petitioner filed a motion in the trial court to vacate the Respondent's reliance on the automatic stay pending appeal provision. Without a hearing, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion to vacate the automatic stay. (A2)

Petitioner then filed a motion for review of the order denying the motion to vacate the automatic stay in the First District Court of Appeal contending that the trial court erred in denying his motion to vacate the stay because, while the commitment of sexually violent predators under the Jimmy Ryce

Act has been deemed to be civil in nature, such commitment during the pendency of the state's appeal constitutes a serious deprivation of liberty interests. In State v.

Mitchell, 848 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (A3), the First District held that the automatic stay provision is applicable to civil commitment proceedings under the Jimmy Ryce Act because they are civil proceedings. Judge Padovano dissented in a written opinion. Because the majority shared the serious concerns for due process expressed by Judge Padovano's written dissent, the following question was certified to this Court as one of great public importance: Whether the state is entitled to the benefit of the automatic stay provision of Rule 9.310(b)(2) on appeal in a civil commitment proceeding brought pursuant to Part V of Chapter 394, Florida Statutes, when the trial court has dismissed the petition seeking commitment.

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On May 3, 2004, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered briefs on the merits. This brief follows<sup>1</sup>.

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{On}$  May 6, 2004 this Court stayed the proceedings in Mitchell v. State, Case No. SC04-368 pending disposition of Hale v. State, Case No. SC03-166 which is now pending in this Court. Petitioner is seeking review of the First District's decision on the merits in State v. Mitchell, 866 So.2d 776 (Fla.  $1^{\mathrm{st}}$  DCA 2004) wherein the First District reversed the trial court's order dismissing the petition for lack of jurisdiction but certified the following question to this

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While the civil commitment of sexually violent predators under the Jimmy Ryce Act has been deemed to be civil in nature and that the rules of civil procedure apply, it is apparent that no one, including the Appellate Rules Committee, could contemplate the serious deprivation of liberty that would ensue by the state's mere filing of a notice of reliance upon the stay pending review provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2). Historically, an appeal by a public agency that stays the performance of the order being appealed was adopted to protect the public treasury from payment of an appeal bond premium. In the cases that the automatic stay was meant to apply, liberty interests were not at stake. Here, they are. This Court has stated that civil commitment proceedings involve a serious deprivation of liberty and such proceedings must comply with the due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions. In determining whether to impose a stay, courts looked to determine whether the parties seeking the stay are likely to ultimately prevail on the merits and whether there is a likelihood of irreparable

Court as one of great public importance: Does the Ryce Act require that the current incarceration be for sexually violent offense.

harm to the party seeking the stay and virtually no harm to accrue to the responding party.

In the instant case, there is no reason to believe that the state is likely to prevail on the merits. Vacating the stay would have caused no harm to the state, let alone, irreparable harm. The effect of the continuing stay would cause harm to the petitioner, because he would continue to remain in custody, deprived of his liberty, even though no proceeding was pending against him.

As to the merits, because the criminal conviction for which Petitioner was under sentence at the time the Jimmy Ryce petition was filed was not for a sexually motivated offense, Petitioner did not meet the statutory criteria for prosecution under the Jimmy Ryce Act and the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to try Petitioner. Since civil commitments under the Jimmy Ryce Act effect liberty interests, the law must be narrowly construed and construed in a light most favorable to Petitioner. In so doing, the applicability clause of the statute, Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2001), requires a commitment action to proceed following imprisonment for an enumerated sexually violent offense. In the instant case against Petitioner, the action proceeded from his prison commitment from convictions for non-sexual crimes. Therefore, the Jimmy Ryce Act does not apply to him.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS INCORRECT IN HOLDING THAT THE AUTOMATIC STAY PROVISION OF FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.310(b)(2) IS APPLICABLE TO CIVIL COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE JIMMY RYCE ACT.

Because the issue presented by the certified question is strictly a legal one, the standard of review is de novo.

On December 10, 2001, an amended petition for commitment as a sexually violent predator was filed against Petitioner.

(SR 1-11)

Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss the petition and vacate the order determining probable cause because the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to try him under the Jimmy Ryce Act, in that his most recent prior term of prison commitment was not for a sexually violent offense. (R 1-18) After a hearing, the trial court granted the motion and entered an order dismissing the petition for lack of jurisdiction. (A1)

Respondent filed a notice of appeal and its reliance on the automatic say pending appeal provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2). Petitioner filed a motion in the trial court to vacate the Respondent's reliance on the automatic stay pending appeal provision. Without a hearing,

the trial court denied Petitioner's motion to vacate the automatic stay. (A2)

Petitioner then filed a motion for review of the order denying the motion to vacate the automatic stay in the First District Court of Appeal contending that the trial court erred in denying his motion to vacate the stay because, while the commitment of sexually violent predators under the Jimmy Ryce Act has been deemed to be civil in nature, such commitment during the pendency of the state's appeal constitutes a serious deprivation of liberty interests. In State v. Mitchell, 848 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (A3), the First District held that the automatic stay provision is applicable to civil commitment proceedings under the Jimmy Ryce Act because they are civil proceedings. Judge Padovano dissented in a written opinion. Because the majority shared the serious concerns for due process expressed by Judge Padovano's written dissent, the following question was certified to this Court as one of great public importance: Whether the state is entitled to the benefit of the automatic stay provision of Rule 9.310(b)(2) on appeal in a civil commitment proceeding brought pursuant to Part V of Chapter 394, Florida Statutes, when the trial court has dismissed the petition seeking commitment.

While the civil commitment of sexually violent predators under the Jimmy Ryce Act has been deemed to be civil in nature and that the rules of civil procedure apply, it is apparent that no one, including the Appellate Rules Committee, could contemplate the serious deprivation of liberty that would ensue by the state's mere filing of a notice of reliance upon the state pending review provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2). Historically, an appeal by a public agency that stays the performance of the order being appealed was adopted to protect the public treasury from payment of an appeal bond premium. Wait v. Florida Power and Light Company, 353 So.2d 1265, approved in part, quashed in part, 372 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1979). In the cases that the automatic stay was meant to apply to, liberty interests were not at stake. Here, they are. This Court has stated that civil commitment proceedings involve a serious deprivation of liberty and, thus such proceedings much comply with the due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions. State v. Goode, 837 So.2d 817, 825-826 (Fla. 2002).

In determining whether to impose a stay, courts look to determine whether the party seeking the stay are likely to ultimately prevail on the merits and whether there is a likelihood of irreparable harm to the party seeking the stay

and virtually no harm to accrue to the responding party. See, Oliveria v. State, 765 So.2d 90 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 2000); State v. Miyasato, 805 So. 2d 818, 824 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001); See also, Committee Notes to Rule 9.120 (Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure). In the instant case, there is no reason to believe that the state is likely to prevail on the merits. Vacating the stay would have caused no harm to the state, let alone, irreparable harm. This is true because neither the State Attorney, the Department of Children and Families, nor the trial court would be deprived of jurisdiction to proceed against respondent should this Court affirm the First District Court of Appeal's reversal of the trial court's order dismissing the petition for lack of jurisdiction. The effect, however, of the continuing stay will cause harm to the petitioner, because he will continue to remain in custody, deprived of his liberty, even though no proceeding was pending against him at the time the trial court dismissed the petition.

As to the merits, due to the significant and substantial liberty interest involved with the involuntary and indefinite detention provided for under the Jimmy Ryce Act<sup>2</sup> with such an impact on liberty interest being tantamount to incarceration,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chapter 394, Part V, Florida Statutes (2001)

due process requires that the Jimmy Ryce Act's own limitation of its application or in other words, its jurisdiction prerequisites, be strictly construed.

Petitioner moved to dismiss the petition and vacate the order determining probable cause because the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to try him under the Jimmy Ryce Act, in that his most recent prior term of prison commitment was not for sexually violent offenses. (R 1-18) In its response, Respondent merely argued that when Sections 394.913(1) and 394.925, Florida Statutes (2001) are read in pari materia, the legislature intended that the Jimmy Ryce Act apply to anyone that was in custody on or after the effective date of the Act, January 1, 1999, and had been at some time convicted of a sexually violent offense, as defined by Section 394.912(9), Florida Statues (2001). (R 19-21) After a hearing, the trial court correctly entered an order dismissing the petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. (R 22-25)

The First District reversed the trial court's order.  $\underline{\text{State v. Mitchell}}$ , 866 So.2d 776 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). (A4)

In the instant case, Petitioner's last prior conviction for a sexually motivated offense was in 1983 in Leon County Circuit Court Case No. 83-915. The sentence on this offense expired in November, 1991. In 2001, at the time the state attorney of the Second Judicial Circuit filed a Jimmy Ryce Act

petition against Petitioner, Petitioner was under a Florida

Department of Corrections sentence for possession of cocaine

and felonious possession of a concealed weapon from Pinellas

County. (R 1-18)

Because the criminal conviction for which Petitioner was under sentence at the time the Jimmy Ryce petition was filed was not for a sexually motivated offense, Petitioner does not meet the statutory criteria for prosecution under the Jimmy Ryce Act and the trial court was without jurisdiction to try Petitioner.

Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2001), entitled "applicability of act" provides that "this part applies to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in Section 394.912(9), as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future". Thus, the language contained within Section 394.925, the "applicability" provisions, indicate that a Jimmy Ryce Act petition can only be filed against persons in the custody of the Department of Corrections and serving a sentence for a sexually violent offense. The phrase, "all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense is clarified by the second phrase "all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total

confinement in the future". In essence, the Legislature provided a limiting language regarding the purview of the Jimmy Ryce Act. For Petitioner to fall within the Jimmy Ryce Act's subject matter jurisdiction, this Court would have to interpose the word "previously" within the body of the section. Such a provision does not exist nor can this Court create it.

The non-jurisdictional notice provision of Section 394.913(1) concerns itself with three distinct situations. First, it requires that notice be given by the institution which maintains jurisdiction over the individual during the period of time the person is under total confinement to the multi-disciplinary team and the state attorney of a person who has committed a sexually violent offense. This is the part of the statute directly applicable to Petitioner and when read in para materia with Section 394.925, Florida Statutes, a combined reading of these two statutory provisions establishes that it is the legislature's intent that those subject to Jimmy Ryce Act commitment proceedings are currently incarcerated and serving a sentence for a sexually violent offense at the time the petition is filed. If they are not, the petition is subject to dismissal on the ground that a trial court is without subject matter jurisdiction over the matter or for failing to state a cause of action.

The second part of subsection 394.913(1) concerns the alternative situation where a person is under total confinement in Florida, yet has been convicted of a sexually violent offense elsewhere. The third part deals with non-Florida convicts serving their out of state sentences in Florida under the interstate compact. Strictly construing the second part of the notice provision in Section 394.913(1) in Petitioner's favor, it does not authorize a Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding against persons who have a sexually violent conviction in their past but a current sentence for a nonsexually violent offense. Rather, this part of the subsection refers to those individuals who are in prison in Florida on a conviction and sentence for a non-sexually violent crime while, perhaps simultaneously serving a concurrent term of imprisonment for a sexually violent crime convicted in another state or from a federal prosecution.

The third part of subsection 394.913(1) concerns itself with persons confined in Florida under interstate compact.

Under the interstate corrections compact, an inmate from another member state, the sending state, would be sent to serve a prison sentence imposed by the sending state to Florida, the receiving state. Section 941.56(Article II), Florida Statutes (2001). At all times, the sending state, not the State of Florida, retains jurisdiction over that inmate.

Section 941.56(Article IV)(c), Florida Statutes (2001) and Florida, as a receiving state, acts only as the sending state's agent and has no rights to make any final determination regarding the sending state's inmate. Section 941.56(Article IV)(e), Florida Statutes (2001). This interstate compact requires that the sending state's prisoner must be returned to the sending state at the end of the prison term served in Florida unless the sending state, Florida, as a receiving state, and the inmate, himself, agree that the inmate should be released in some location other than the sending state. Section 941.56(Article IV)(g), Florida Statutes (2001).

The Jimmy Ryce Act's notice provision, 394.913(1) cannot apply to a sending state's inmate in Florida under the interstate corrections compact. By the compact's terms, such an inmate cannot be under total confinement in Florida because no Florida institution or court has any jurisdiction over that inmate's prison term. Meyer v. Moore, 826 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). The only way such an inmate can be subject to the Jimmy Ryce Act is if he voluntarily elects to remain in Florida at the conclusion of his prison term and both the sending state and Florida also agree. Section 941.56(Article IV)(g), Florida Statutes (2001). To be eligible for Jimmy

Ryce Act commitment such an inmate would have to be currently serving his out of state sentence in Florida for a sexually violent crime. Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2001).

Therefore, the state attorney in the circuit where

Petitioner was last convicted of a sexually violent offense

i.e. the Second Judicial Circuit, had no legal authority to

proceed against him under Section 394.913(1) of the Jimmy Ryce

Act. Petitioner's preceding criminal conviction for which he

had been imprisoned was not for a sexually violent offense and

his term of imprisonment on his conviction for the sexual

battery he had committed in the Second Judicial Circuit had

expired long before the Jimmy Ryce Act was enacted.

The primary goal of the Jimmy Ryce Act is to involuntarily commit "a small but extremely dangerous number of sexually violent predators" who are "likely to engage in criminal, sexually violent behavior" in the future. Section 394.910, Florida Statutes (2001). As the trial court concluded, the issue to be resolved may be framed as follows:

Does Part V, Chapter 394, Florida Statutes, (the Jimmy Ryce Act) apply to persons who have previously been convicted of a sexual offense, completed their sentence, and subsequently are incarcerated for a non-sexual offense?

This Court, as did the trial court, must answer the question in the negative. This Court has addressed the purpose of the Jimmy Ryce Act:

....On its face, the Florida Statute was clearly intended "to create a civil commitment scheme to address the risks these sexually violent predator pose to society" and to provide "long term care and treatment" for those individuals. 394.10, Florida Statutes, (2001). only individuals convicted of a sexually violent offense [footnote omitted] are eligible for commitment under the Ryce Act, the previous conviction must be coupled with a current "mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long term control, care and treatment" in order to meet the statutory definition of a sexually violent predator. Section 394.912(10), Florida Statutes, (2001)....The State's purposes for the Ryce Act - - long term mental health treatment for sexual predators and protection of the public from them - - are both compelling and proper. Westerheide v. State, 831 So. 2d 93, 100-104, (Fla. 2002). Petitioner in this case completed his sentence for the

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