IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANK MITCHELL,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC03-1210

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State was entitled to the automatic stay provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2). The rule applies in all civil proceedings, including Jimmy Ryce Act cases, where the State is a litigant. The trial court did not err in declining to dissolve the stay because the State showed a strong likelihood of success on the merits – no Florida case has ever accepted the proposition that sexually violent predator commitment is limited to prisoners whose current sentence is for a sexually violent crime – and the State and its citizens could suffer irreparable harm if the person against whom sexually violent predator proceedings have been instituted is granted his freedom pending appeal.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY NOT ORDERING PETITIONER'S RELEASE AFTER DISMISSING THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR PETITION AGAINST HIM? (Restated)

A. JURISDICTION

This Court's jurisdiction is discretionary and is based on the lower court's decision to certify a question as being of great public importance. Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's order granting a stay is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>McQueen v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 1030, 1031 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

C. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

The Circuit Court of Leon County ruled that the State was entitled to rely upon the automatic stay provision of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2) when appealing the order that dismissed a sexually violent predator commitment petition on the ground that the respondent in that action had not been in prison for a sexually violent offense at the time the proceedings were commenced.

D. THE APPELLATE COURT'S OPINION

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's ruling in a decision rendered before the merits of the

- 7 -

underlying appeal were reached. <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 848 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). The DCA concluded that because sexually violent predator proceedings are civil and because Rule 9.310(b)(2) applied in civil cases, the automatic stay provision was applicable. 848 So. 2d at 1210. The lower court also noted that once the trial court had found probable cause to believe that the SVP respondent (i.e., Petitioner here) met the criteria for civil commitment, it could not order his release. <u>Id.</u> at 1210-1211. The lower court certified the following question as being of great public importance.

> WHETHER THE STATE IS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF AUTOMATIC STAY PROVISION OF THE RULE 9.310(b)(2) ON APPEAL IN A CIVIL COMMITMENT PROCEEDING BROUGHT PURSUANT TO PART V OF CHAPTER 394, FLORIDA STATUTES, WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS DISMISSED THEPETITION SEEKING COMMITMENT.

848 So. 2d at 1211.

E. MERITS

Appellant argues that Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2) should not apply in this instance because a liberty interest was at stake and the rule was meant to apply strictly to financial interests. Moreover, he asserts, the liberty interest outweighs any state interest at stake and the State is not likely to prevail on appeal. The State respectfully disagrees with all these contentions.

The rule is unambiguous and clearly applies to any civil case where the government is a litigant. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(2) states:

- 8 -

The timely filing of a notice shall automatically operate as a stay pending review, except in criminal cases, when the state, any public officer in an official capacity, board, commission, or other public body seeks review; provided that an automatic stay shall exist for 48 hours after the filing of the notice of appeal for public records and public meeting cases. On motion, the lower tribunal or the court may extend a stay, impose any lawful conditions, or vacate the stay.

It is settled law that, irrespective of the liberty interest at stake, Jimmy Ryce Act cases are civil. <u>Kansas v. Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. 346, 365-366 (1997); <u>Westerheide v. State</u>, 831 So. 2d 93, 100-102 (Fla. 2002). Except to establish a separate time period for public records and public meetings cases, the rule makes no distinction as to the type of civil case, and does not expressly exempt Jimmy Ryce Act cases, Baker Act¹ cases or Marchman Act² cases, though a liberty interest is at stake in each proceeding.

As the majority opinion noted, even Judge Padovano, upon whose dissent Appellant relies, stated in his treatise that the rule does not distinguish between types of civil cases. Philip J. Padovano, *Florida Appellate Practice* §12.5 (2004 ed.). Inasmuch as the rule applies in all civil cases where the government is a litigant, it should apply irrespective of the interest at stake in the litigation.

¹ Part I, Ch. 394, Fla. Stat.

² Ch. 397, Fla. Stat.

The recent decision in <u>State v. Ducharme</u>, 881 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) also relied on Judge Padovano's dissent in <u>Mitchell</u>, finding that the State should have to justify a stay under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(a). Judge Padovano wrote:

The original purpose of the rule was to enable the state to maintain the status quo while avoiding the unnecessary expense of providing a supersedeas bond. A litigant who obtains a money judgment against the state should have no fear that the judgment will be uncollectible if the state loses the appeal. The state will always be subject to the jurisdiction of the court and a bond is not required because the solvent litigant. state is а These considerations, which prompted the adoption of the automatic stay provision in rule 9.310(b)(2), are not even remotely applicable to an involuntary commitment proceeding.

864 So. 2d at 1213.

This analysis blatantly ignores a basic rule of statutory interpretation: "If the language of the statue is clear and unambiguous, a court must derive legislative intent from the words used without involving rules of construction or speculating as to what the legislature intended." <u>State v.</u> <u>Dugan</u>, 685 So. 2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 1996). Extrinsic aids such as legislative history – the existence of which Judge Padovano merely alluded to without specific reference – must be avoided. <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 865 So. 2d 677, 679 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

Moreover, as noted by the <u>Mitchell</u> majority, Judge Padovano's own treatise noted that there is no express limit to the kinds of civil cases to which the rule applies. Judge Padovano's

- 10 -

treatise, moreover, did not treat the rule as being in any way ambiguous.

Neither the <u>Ducharme</u> opinion nor Judge Padovano's dissent below addressed the question of why the automatic stay in Rule 9.310(b)(2), and the procedural framework that has grown up around it, are unable to produce just results in every instance. While the rule is, in effect, automatic, a stay entered pursuant to the rule may be dissolved. There are two principal considerations that trial courts take into account when deciding whether to vacate a stay: the likelihood of success on the merits and the likelihood of irreparable harm should the stay be dissolved. <u>Perez v. Perez</u>, 769 So. 2d 389, 391 n. 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999).

Inasmuch as the position taken in the trial court has never been accepted in Florida, the State's likelihood of success on the merits is great. Certainly, the State has succeeded thus far. The lower court reversed the trial court's order dismissing the petition (866 So. 2d at 777) by relying on <u>Tabor v. State</u>, 864 So. 2d 1171, 1173-1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), which held that the Jimmy Ryce Act could be applied to prisoners whose incarceration was not for a sexually violent offense. No case has disagreed with this proposition, and, as the Court has noted, the issue will be decided by <u>Hale v. State</u>.³

 $^{^3}$ The Second District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Hale v.</u> <u>State</u>, 834 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) did not address this issue directly, finding only a jury instruction question worthy of discussion.

<u>Tabor</u> held that sections 394.912(9)(g), 394.913(1) and 394.925, Florida Statutes, conclusively demonstrate that the legislature did not intend the result championed by Mr. Tabor and by Petitioner and accepted by Judge Francis. First, the <u>Tabor</u> court held that section 394.925 is not ambiguous. That section reads:

> This part applies to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in s. 394.912(9), as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future.

The court went on to acknowledge that even if it were ambiguous, any construction given would have to construe it harmoniously with other sections, specifically sections 394.913(1) and 394.912(9)(g).

Section 394.913(1) provides:

The agency with jurisdiction over a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense shall give written notice to the multidisciplinary team, and a copy to the state attorney of the circuit where that person was last convicted of a sexually violent offense. If the person has never been convicted of a sexually violent offense in this state but has been convicted of a sexually violent offense in another state or in federal court, the agency with jurisdiction shall give written notice to the multidisciplinary team and a copy to the state attorney of the circuit where the person was last convicted of any offense in this state.

(Emphasis provided). As the bold-faced passage demonstrates, the Legislature meant to apply the act to persons incarcerated in Florida whose qualifying crime - i.e., a sexually violent offense - occurred in another jurisdiction. Under Judge Francis' ruling this section of the law is meaningless, since the State could not petition to commit anyone who is not currently imprisoned for committing a sexual offense.

Section 394.912(9)(g) defines "sexually violent offense" to include "any federal conviction or conviction in another state for a felony offense that in this state would be a sexually violent offense." Taken together, the <u>Tabor</u> court held those sections "refuted" the argument made here. The court reasoned:

> A person in custody in Florida, whose only conviction for a sexually violent offense is from another jurisdiction, would not be in custody for a sexually violent offense. The non-Florida sentence for the sexually violent offense could be running concurrently, could have been completed, or could be consecutive to the Florida sentence. Under none of those scenarios would the current incarceration be as a result of the sexually violent offense.

864 So. 2d at 1174.

The statute does not require that the person currently be in custody for a sexually violent offense. If that had been the legislative intent, it would have been a simple matter to state that the act applies to those who are "currently in custody for a conviction for a sexually violent offense." Rather, the act applies to those currently in custody and who had a sexually violent offense conviction, whether it be for the current sentence being served or for a past sentence. Thus, the act would apply to two classes of individuals: 1) all those who were in custody on January 1, 1999, for any current conviction, with

- 13 -

a sex offense conviction either being the current one or a past one; and 2) those who were not in custody on January 1, 1999, but who will be convicted of sexually violent offenses in the future. This dichotomy would enable the State to evaluate all prisoners, starting with January 1, 1999, as they were released, to determine whether there was anything in their backgrounds that would warrant commitment as sexually violent predators.

Despite the fact that no Florida court ever has agreed with him, Petitioner argues "there is no reason to believe that the state is likely to prevail on the merits." (IB at 8-9.) He explains this assertion by merging the second factor likelihood of irreparable harm - into the first, and by arguing that his liberty interest is great whereas the State would not be deprived of jurisdiction to proceed against him if the State were to prevail. (IB at 9.) He then goes on to argue the merits, wherein he dismisses the opinion below and Tabor as establishing a rule of law that would violate substantive due process as applied to him. (IB at 16-19.) This argument is improper here, inasmuch as it was not raised below, as is necessary when challenging a statute's constitutionality as applied to a particular individual, and thus was not preserved. <u>Westerheide</u>, 831 So. at 105; Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1129-1130 (Fla. 1982).

Petitioner also appears to attempt to make an equal protection argument in the guise of substantive due process, claiming that the act does not apply to individuals who have committed

- 14 -

sexually violent crimes in the past but who were not in prison at the time the Jimmy Ryce Act was passed and have not been incarcerated since then, i.e., an "under-inclusiveness" claim. (IB at 18-19). As this Court noted in Westerheide, however:

> [I]t is not a requirement of equal protection that every statutory classification be all-inclusive. Rather, the statute must merely apply equally to the members of the statutory class and bear a reasonable relation to some legitimate state interest.

In the Jimmy Ryce Act the legislature decided to limit the law's application to persons over whom personal jurisdiction could easily be achieved, state prisoners. Moreover, those persons who have been imprisoned after committing a separate sexually violent offense had demonstrated an inability to control their unlawful behavior, and part of the profile of a sexually violent predator is an inability to exercise such control. <u>Westerheide</u>, 831 So. 2d at 107. Thus, the distinction between those in prison with prior convictions for sexually violent crimes and those previously convicted but not within state custody is not unreasonable.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Atkinson</u>, 831 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 2002) is misplaced, as is his assertion that <u>Atkinson</u> involved subject matter jurisdiction. <u>Atkinson</u>, wherein this Court held that a person not lawfully in custody on the date the Jimmy Ryce Act took effect was not susceptible to civil commitment as a sexually violent predator, has no bearing on this case, where Petitioner was lawfully in custody after the

- 15 -

effective date of the act. Moreover, the jurisdiction that the State lacked in <u>Atkinson</u> was jurisdiction over the person, and not jurisdiction over the type of case that was filed.⁴ <u>Atkinson</u> does not stand for any proposition at issue here.

Similarly, the out-of-state decisions that petitioner references are inapposite. As to <u>Commonwealth v. McLeod</u>, 771 N.E.2d 142 (Mass. 2002), Massachusetts law did not expressly apply to persons whose current incarceration was for a sexual offense. Florida has section 394.925, which does evince legislative intent. The <u>Tabor</u> court distinguished <u>McLeod</u> on the ground that "sexual offense was only defined as a Massachusetts conviction." 864 So. 2d at 1174. <u>Tabor</u> also distinguished <u>State</u> <u>v. Gonzalez</u>, 658 N.W.2d 102 (Iowa 2003).

> The Iowa statute applies to two classes of sexually violent offenders, those who are currently confined, and those who have been released but have committed a recent overt act. The Iowa Supreme Court concluded that requiring a recent overt act for one class, those who were not confined, but not requiring a recent overt act for those who are confined, "would ſstate raise serious and federall constitutional issues." Id. at 105. The Iowa Supreme Court resolved this problem by finding the statute ambiguous and construing the statute to mean that the current confinement was for a sexually violent offense.

864 So. 2d at 1174.

⁴ In the lower court, the State argued that Petitioner had waived the argument that led to the trial court's decision to dismiss the petition. While the motion was premised on subject matter jurisdiction, in fact it appeared to be a defense of want of personal jurisdiction. Under Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.140(b), and 1.140(h), such defenses must be raised in the first responsive pleading, and had not been.

As to the likelihood of irreparable harm, the State's interest is far stronger. There has been an *ex parte* finding of probable cause that Respondent has a mental defect or personality disorder that, unless he is confined and treated, makes it likely that he will commit a further act of sexual violence.⁵ Thus, the risk to the State's citizens is substantial if Petitioner is released for the pendency of an appellate proceeding that can take months. The public interest in safety and security and in determining whether Petitioner is, indeed, a sexually violent predator in this instance trumps his liberty interest.

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